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BEFORE THE IOWA WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSIONER

______________________________________________________________________



  :

ROBERT KILDOW,
  :



  :                          File No. 5033628

Claimant,
  :



  :                     A R B I T R A T I O N
vs.

  :



  :                           D E C I S I O N
CLOW VALVE COMPANY,
  :



  : 


Employer,
  :


Self-Insured,
  :


Defendant.
  :                 Head Note No.:  1000
______________________________________________________________________

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Claimant, Robert Kildow, filed a petition in arbitration seeking workers’ compensation benefits from Clow Valve Company, self-insured employer, as defendant, as a result of an alleged injury sustained on January 12, 2010.  This matter came on for hearing before Deputy Workers’ Compensation Commissioner, Erica J. Elliott, on July 13, 2011, in Des Moines, Iowa.  The record in this case consists of joint exhibits A through L, claimant’s exhibits 1 through 3, and the testimony of the claimant.  The parties submitted post-hearing briefs, the matter being fully submitted on September 26, 2011.
ISSUES

The parties submitted the following issues for determination:
1. Whether claimant sustained an injury arising out of and in the course of employment on January 12, 2010 or the alleged conditions are properly attributable to the previously adjudicated stipulated injury of August 15, 2007 (File No. 5026020);   

2. Whether the alleged injury is an occupational disease pursuant to Iowa Code chapter 85A or an injury pursuant to Iowa Code chapter 85;

3. Whether the alleged injury is a cause of permanent disability or disablement;  and

4. The extent of claimant’s permanent disability.
The stipulations of the parties in the hearing report are incorporated by reference in this decision.  
FINDINGS OF FACT

The undersigned, having considered all of the evidence and testimony in the record, finds:

Claimant’s testimony was consistent as compared to his deposition and medical records, his demeanor was good, and his body position and eye contact were indicative of a truthful witness.  Claimant is found credible.
Claimant was 55 years of age at the time of hearing.  He resides in Ottumwa, Iowa, with his wife.  Claimant attended high school through the 12th grade; however, he was short of graduation by one-quarter of a point.  He did not obtain his diploma or GED; he has no other post-secondary or vocational education or training.  Claimant’s work history consists of employment in an iron foundry, miscellaneous carpentry and construction jobs, as a laborer, as an industrial painter, and his employment with defendant.  (Claimant’s testimony)  

Claimant began work in June 1988 at defendant’s facility in Oskaloosa, Iowa.  Defendant produces cast iron water valves and hydrants.  The facility is divided into two plants, a foundry and a finishing side.  The whole of claimant’s employment has been based in the foundry plant.  From 1988 through 2000, claimant worked in the core room; first as an equipment operator and second in the “no-bake” position.  Both positions resulted in significant exposure to silica dust.  Due to this exposure, claimant transferred to the grinding room in 2000.  He took a position as an inspector, tasked with inspecting castings and performing cosmetic repairs.  (Claimant’s testimony; Exhibit H, pages 79‑80; Ex. K, pp. 104-105)  Claimant continues to work at defendant and has retained this employment without interruption since his hire in 1988.  (Claimant’s testimony)  

Claimant’s relevant medical history includes an acute anterior wall myocardial infarction with successful stenting in 2006.  Claimant continues on a medication maintenance regimen, including Plavix, and Lipitor for cholesterol.  (Claimant’s testimony; Ex. G, pp. 71-78)

As part of defendant’s annual lung screening program, claimant underwent a chest x-ray on June 4, 2007.  (Claimant’s testimony)  Radiologist, Douglas Ketcham, M.D., opined the results demonstrated parenchymal abnormalities consistent with pneumoconiosis and silicosis.  (Ex. D, p. 30)  Due to this abnormal finding, defendant referred claimant to a specialist.  (Claimant’s testimony)  

On August 15, 2007, at the order of pulmonologist, Gregory Hicklin, M.D., claimant underwent pulmonary function testing (PFT) at The Iowa Clinic/Iowa Lung Center.  The technician, Jill Schultz, RRT, noted claimant demonstrated good effort with good repeatability.  Claimant’s DLCO, the diffusion in the lungs of carbon monoxide, was measured at 87 percent of predicted diffusion capacity.  Upon review of the testing results, Dr. Hicklin assessed mild obstructive type ventilator defect with no acute reversibility.  (Ex. B, pp. 16-20)

Also on August 15, 2007, claimant presented to Dr. Hicklin for evaluation.  On examination, Dr. Hicklin noted PFT results revealed “very mild” airways obstruction, a chest x-ray revealed small rounded opacities of the upper lung, and a chest CT revealed diffuse nodular changes, upper lobe predominance.  Dr. Hicklin opined claimant suffered with pulmonary silicosis and likely mild chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) related to cigarette smoking.  (Ex. A, p. 2)  Dr. Hicklin recommended a pneumonia shot every six to eight years, annual fall flu shots, yearly chest x-ray and spirometry (PFT), avoidance of future clinically significant silica exposure, and complete cessation of cigarette smoking.  Thereafter, Dr. Hicklin reviewed air sampling results taken at defendant on July 9 through July 12, 2007 and opined claimant’s current work environment possessed safe levels of silica.  (Ex. A, pp. 2-4, 6-7; Ex. L, Tr. p. 10)  

On February 26, 2008, claimant filed an original notice and petition for workers’ compensation benefits.  Claimant alleged he sustained an injury on August 15, 2007, caused by occupational exposure to silica dust.  Claimant alleged an injury to his lungs and body as a whole.  (Ex. J, pp. 87-88)  Claimant’s claim was assigned File No. 5026020.  (Ex. J, p. 90)

A June 4, 2008 chest x-ray yielded normal results per Dr. Ketcham.  (Ex. D, p. 31)

On August 11, 2008, Dr. Hicklin recommended a repeat chest x-ray and chest CT to evaluate possible progression of abnormalities.  (Ex. A, p. 7)  By a letter drafted November 6, 2008, Dr. Hicklin opined the abnormalities visible on claimant’s PFT resulted from COPD due to chronic smoking.  Dr. Hicklin further assessed silicosis, yet opined claimant’s silicosis had not caused any pulmonary impairment or symptoms.  He opined claimant had not sustained any permanent partial disability attributable to the silicosis.  Dr. Hicklin recommended avoidance of further exposure to silica, annual spirometry (PFT) and chest x-rays, and biannual PPD skin test (tuberculosis skin test).  (Ex. A, p. 8)  

The parties proceeded to arbitration hearing in File No. 5026020 on February 2, 2009.  The presiding deputy commissioner issued a decision March 31, 2009.  The parties stipulated claimant sustained an injury on August 15, 2007.  The relevant issue with regard to claimant’s lung and silicosis claim was whether claimant had sustained a permanent disability and if so, the extent of that disability.  (Ex. J, pp. 90, 93-94)  The presiding deputy reviewed the evidentiary record and noted Dr. Hicklin had opined claimant sustained zero impairment attributable to the silicosis condition, with any permanent impairment being properly attributable to claimant’s cigarette smoking.  The deputy also noted claimant had failed to offer any contrary evidence, specifically noting claimant failed to provide an opinion from an independent medical examiner as allowed by Iowa Code section 85.39.  (Ex. J, p. 95)  The deputy ultimately concluded: 

It is the determination of the undersigned; while claimant suffers from work-related silicosis, the condition does not result in a permanent impairment.  Claimant has COPD that is related to his prolonged history of cigarette smoking.  He has been smoking for 34 years.  His non-work-related COPD is the cause of claimant’s permanent lung condition.  Dr. Hicklin opined claimant’s symptoms are all attributable to claimant’s cigarette addiction.  Because claimant’s lung condition is caused by his smoking related COPD, rather than to silicosis, claimant takes nothing in the form of permanency benefits for his silicosis. 

(Ex. J, p. 95)

On May 11, 2009, claimant underwent a chest x-ray with Dr. Ketcham which revealed possible small opacities in the mid to upper lungs, consistent with pneumoconiosis.  (Ex. D, p. 32)

On January 6, 2010, claimant presented to Laurence Fuortes, M.D., at the University of Iowa Hospitals & Clinics (UIHC).  Dr. Fuortes specializes in internal and occupational medicine and serves as a professor in the Department of Occupational and Environmental Health and Internal Medicine at UIHC.  (Ex. 1, Tr. pp. 3-4)  Dr. Fuortes noted a history of silicosis, mild COPD, and myocardial infarction.  Claimant’s chief complaint is listed as shortness of breath; claimant also complained of nighttime wheezing and coughing.  (Ex. E, pp. 38-39)  Claimant underwent a chest CT and PFT at UIHC.  Good patient effort was noted during claimant’s PFT.  Claimant’s DLCO measured at 65 percent of predicted.  (Ex. E, pp. 42-44)  Following examination, Dr. Fuortes assessed radiologic evidence of silicosis and “physiologic evidence of pulmonary impairment consistent with silicosis effects, diminished diffusion capacity on pulmonary function testing.”  Dr. Fuortes recommended annual PFTs, PPD skin tests, and chest x-rays.  (Ex. E, p. 40)  

On January 12, 2010, Dr. Fuortes added a handwritten addendum to claimant’s medical record of January 6, 2010.  At that time, Dr. Fuortes opined claimant could not work “with or around respirable silica.”  He went on to diagnose claimant with silicosis and opined:

[O]n the basis of diminished Diffusion Capacity, DLCO, and without any evidence of Emphysema, I would state that he has a significant permanent impairment from silicosis.

(Ex. E, p. 41)


At deposition, claimant admitted Dr. Fuortes did not recommend any restrictions beyond those already in place per Dr. Hicklin.  Claimant was also questioned as to the reason he sought evaluation with Dr. Fuortes, 

Q.  . . . 
The next one is the doctor at the University of Iowa that you saw.  Why did you go to him in January of 2010.  

A. Second opinion. 

Q. A Second opinion?

A. Yes. 

Q. Was there anything new that had occurred or was it just “I want to get another opinion”?

A.  Another opinion.

Q. So nothing new had occurred with regard to your symptoms or your lung condition, but you just wanted another opinion; is that fair to say?

A. Yes, yes.  

(Ex. K, p. 110)


At evidentiary hearing, claimant testified he wanted a second opinion because he believed his condition was worsening.  Claimant admitted that following examination, Dr. Fuortes made the same treatment recommendations as previously recommended by Dr. Hicklin.  Claimant acknowledged he was not exposed to silica dust between the years of 2007 and 2010. (Claimant’s testimony)


Dr. Fuortes authored a response to inquiry from claimant’s counsel on April 6, 2010.  Dr. Fuortes indicated claimant’s PFT of January 6, 2010 revealed a DLCO of 65 percent of predicted diffusion capacity.  He noted: 

The significance of the decreased DLCO in the face of essentially normal spirometry is entirely consistent with a mixed physiologic deficit from obstructive physiology from smoking being counterbalanced by restrictive physiologic effects from pneumoconiosis, silicosis.  The technicians noted the test as having been performed with “good patient effort”.  I would interpret a deficit in diffusion capacity or DLCO as more likely than not representing a permanent impairment from either silicosis or the combined effects of smoking and silicosis.  Given the normal spirometry I cannot apportion, (attribute a portion), of the observed deficit to tobacco[.]

(Ex. E, p. 47)


Dr. Fuortes opined claimant’s decreased DLCO was more likely than not the result of silicosis and opined claimant had sustained a permanent impairment of 21 percent whole person.  Dr. Fuortes recommended permanent restrictions prohibiting claimant from working in an area with potential exposure to respirable silica in excess of 0.05 mg/m3.  (Ex. E, pp. 48-49)  At deposition, Dr. Fuortes testified he based his opinion of claimant’s permanent impairment upon claimant’s “low diffusion capacity.”  (Ex. 1, Tr. p. 13)

On April 1, 2010, claimant was admitted to the neurology department of UIHC to evaluate recurrent stereotypical episodes left hemi-body dysfunction, marked by left hand numbness and shaking, as well as lightheadedness.  Claimant was discharged on April 4, 2010 in stable condition following video EEG monitoring.  (Ex. F, pp. 57-70)  Claimant testified UIHC related his symptoms to migraines.  (Claimant’s testimony)

Claimant underwent a chest x-ray on May 6, 2010, read by Dr. Ketcham to reveal small opacities in the mid to upper lungs, consistent with pneumoconiosis.  (Ex. D, p. 33)

Dr. Hicklin was provided with claimant’s records from UIHC.  Following review of those records, Dr. Hicklin authored a response dated May 12, 2010, whereby Dr. Hicklin opined that based upon these results, claimant had sustained a permanent impairment of 6 percent whole person by the AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, 6th Edition.  Dr. Hicklin further stated:

I am surprised to see that there has been a decline in [claimant’s] DLCO over 2 years.  It is hard for me to believe that is due to progression of silicosis, but it may be.  I cannot comment further without seeing the patient….

The question is whether this impairment is due to underlying COPD, problems with his heart or progression of silicosis.  That I cannot answer. 

(Ex. A, p. 9)


Claimant presented to Dr. Hicklin on January 10, 2011.  Claimant underwent repeat PFT at The Iowa Clinic/Iowa Lung Center.  Claimant’s DLCO measured at 85 percent of predicted.  (Ex. B, pp. 20-22)  Following review of PFT results, Dr. Hicklin assessed “mild obstructive type ventilator defect unchanged from [August 15, 2007].”  (Ex. A, p. 10)  Following examination, Dr. Hicklin opined claimant suffered with COPD attributable to previous cigarette smoking and demonstrated radiographic abnormalities of small rounded opacities of the lungs.  Dr. Hicklin opined claimant’s abnormalities appeared stable and represented very mild silicosis, without evidence of progression of the disease.  Dr. Hicklin opined he did not visualize “any decline compared to [claimant’s] initial evaluation.”  (Ex. A, p. 11)


At deposition, claimant testified following this evaluation, Dr. Hicklin informed claimant his condition remained “about the same.”  Claimant acknowledged Dr. Hicklin did not recommend any new restrictions or new medical treatment.  (Ex. K, p. 109) 

In response to inquiry from claimant’s counsel, Dr. Fuortes authored a letter dated April 27, 2011.  With regard to claimant’s lung conditions, Dr. Fuortes noted:

[Claimant] appears to have evidence radiologically of several lung processes.  He has several calcified granulomas that are most consistent with a healed granulomatous infection such as Histoplasmosis.  He has several small blebs in the apices of his lungs from mild emphysema most likely secondary to tobacco and he has numerous non-calcified nodules in the upper and mid lung zones characteristic of silicosis.  Between the characteristic nature of the CAT scan and chest X-ray findings and his occupational history of exposure to fine silica particulate he more likely than not has Silicosis.

(Ex. E, p. 51)    

Dr. Fuortes opined claimant’s exposure to silica at defendant was the cause of his silicosis.  Dr. Fuortes opined claimant’s lung function testing from 2010 showed evidence of significant impairment that was not previously evident in testing in 2007.  He continued to opine claimant had sustained a permanent impairment of 21 percent whole person and recommended minimizing claimant’s exposure to silica.  (Ex. E, pp. 51-52)  


In response to a letter from defendant’s counsel dated June 3, 2011, Dr. Hicklin indicated he had personally examined claimant in both August 2007 and January 2011, at those times reviewing claimant’s chest x-rays and PFT results.  Dr. Hicklin agreed he had diagnosed claimant with pulmonary silicosis and COPD in 2007, with claimant’s COPD being unrelated to his work at defendant.  He further indicated that following review of recent diagnostic testing, he did not believe there had been “any progression of the silicosis” since August 2007.  Dr. Hicklin continued to opine claimant had not sustained any permanent impairment as a result of the work-related silicosis and the silicosis was not causing pulmonary impairment or symptoms.  He opined claimant’s lung volumes showed normal TLC in both 2007 and 2011.  Dr. Hicklin also opined claimant’s DLCO was normal in both 2007 and 2011, with claimant’s DLCO of 20.1, or 85 percent of predicted, not warranting a permanent impairment rating according to the AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, 5th Edition.  (Ex. A, pp. 12-14)


Dr. Hicklin further indicated he had reviewed Dr. Fuortes’ reports.  Dr. Hicklin agreed that the DLCO result of 18.7, or 65 percent of predicted, used by Dr. Fuortes was inconsistent with claimant’s August 15, 2007 and January 10, 2011 PFT results.  Dr. Hicklin expressed disagreement with Dr. Fuortes’ opinion that claimant had sustained a permanent impairment of 21 percent whole person.  Dr. Hicklin indicated claimant’s DLCO testing of January 2011, approximately one year following Dr. Fuortes’ PFT testing, revealed a normal diffusion at 85 percent of predicted level.  Dr. Hicklin declined to assign permanent impairment as a result of the silicosis and opined claimant’s silicosis had not worsened from the date of the August 2007 evaluation.  Dr. Hicklin opined claimant did not require any new permanent restrictions in addition to those imposed in 2007 and further indicated claimant was capable of continued full-time work in his existing position.  (Ex. A, pp. 13-15)

  
On June 6, 2011, Dr. Ketcham issued his responses to a letter authored by defendant’s counsel.  Dr. Ketcham indicated he had reviewed claimant’s chest, PA, and lateral x-rays from June 4, 2007 through May 17, 2010 and opined based upon that review, there had been no worsening or progression of claimant’s silicosis since the original June 4, 2007 examination.  (Ex. D, pp. 34-35) 

On June 7, 2011, Dr. Fuortes replied to inquiries made by defendant’s counsel.  Dr. Fuortes agreed that the restrictions he recommended following evaluation of claimant were the same as those which he would have issued in 2007 based upon claimant’s June 4, 2007 x-rays, revealing silicosis.  Dr. Fuortes further indicated claimant was capable of performing his current duties for defendant.  (Ex. E, p. 55)  Dr. Fuortes agreed claimant’s 21 percent permanent impairment rating had been based entirely upon an apparent decline in claimant’s diffusion, per January 6, 2010 PFT results showing a DLCO of 65 percent of predicted.  Dr. Fuortes indicated he had not received copies of claimant’s August 2007 or January 2011 PFT results prior to June 2, 2011.  He agreed he had since reviewed these results.  When questioned if claimant demonstrated normal DLCO in both August 2007 and January 2011, Dr. Fuortes responded that the PFTs from The Iowa Clinic/Iowa Lung Center yielded normal diffusion results; however, there was a discrepancy between the DLCO results at The Iowa Clinic/Iowa Lung Center and UIHC.  He further opined that in order to address claimant’s permanent impairment, he “would have to see that inconsistency resolved.”  (Ex. E, p. 54) Similarly, prior to opining as to whether claimant sustained a worsening of his lung condition, Dr. Fuortes indicated he “would have to see a repeat DLCO from the UIHC and reassess on that basis.”  (Ex. E, p. 55)

At deposition, claimant admitted Dr. Fuortes informed him that had Dr. Fuortes evaluated claimant in 2007, his opinions with regard to diagnosis, restrictions, and impairment would have been the same as he issued following the 2010 evaluation.  (Ex. K, pp. 113-114)     

On June 22, 2011, claimant underwent repeat PFT at UIHC.  Good patient effort during testing was noted.  Dr. Fuortes opined the results “support[ed] the prior impression, adjusted DLCO=64% predicted.”  (Ex. 2)  

Dr. Fuortes provided deposition testimony on July 1, 2011.  At that time, Dr. Fuortes was asked to elaborate on the role of silicosis in claimant’s DLCO levels:

Well, he has abnormal lung function that looked like he may have a comb – and most people will have a combination of insults that affect any organ.  Our lungs are exposed to everything in the air, so the issue is trying to figure out causality of abnormalities of lung function.  

And the patient’s predominant abnormality was in the diffusion capacity, the ability to transfer gas from the outside into the bloodstream….

And that diffusion capacity was diminished at 65 percent predicted, whereas the rest of his airway functions were relatively normal, although they do imply a mixed deficit.  There is some deficit present presumably from tobacco on that lung function as well.  Some obstructive airway disease as well.  I think he has a mixed airways disease or mixed functionality of lung disease.

Q.  Let me ask you, is a substantial part of the decreased DLCO due to silicosis, in your opinion?

A.  That’s my impression, yes. 

(Ex. 1, Tr. pp. 8-9)

Dr. Fuortes related claimant’s lung disease to a combination of tobacco use, silica exposure, and histoplasmosis.  He further opined based upon claimant’s CT scan, claimant suffered from mild emphysema secondary to tobacco use.  (Ex. 1, Tr. pp. 49-53)  He explained that obstructive lung disease would typically not impact DLCO levels; however, emphysema would impact DLCO levels.  (Ex. 1, Tr. p. 33)  

At deposition, Dr. Fuortes testified the two sets of PFT results from UIHC, January 6, 2010 and June 22, 2011, were “virtually identical.”  (Ex. 1, Tr. pp. 26-27)  He further opined claimant’s results in the two series of tests were reproducible and valid.  (Ex. 1, Tr. p. 29)  Dr. Fuortes stated claimant’s DLCO measurements formed the basis for claimant’s entire impairment rating.  (Ex. 1, Tr. pp. 32, 36)  

Dr. Fuortes indicated the PFT results ordered by Dr. Hicklin on August 15, 2007 and January 10, 2011, were consistent and revealed normal DLCO levels.  Dr. Fuortes further opined that in the event one simply reviewed the PFTs ordered by Dr. Hicklin, there is no evidence of a worsening of claimant’s condition and claimant would not have sustained a permanent impairment.  (Ex. 1, Tr. pp. 38-40, 41, 54)  

Dr. Hicklin provided deposition testimony on August 25, 2011.  At that time, Dr. Hicklin opined claimant’s DLCO results were normal in 2007.  (Ex. L, Tr. p. 8)  Dr. Hicklin opined that at the time of claimant’s August 15, 2007 examination, claimant suffered from pulmonary silicosis; however, the silicosis was not “affecting” claimant.  He attributed claimant’s impaired lung function present at that time to mild COPD secondary to cigarette smoking.  (Ex. L, Tr. p. 9)  Dr. Hicklin testified he again examined claimant on January 10, 2011.  Dr. Hicklin testified at that time claimant underwent a repeat PFT, including DLCO measurement, and the results remained normal and relatively unchanged from the August 2007 PFT.  (Ex. L, Tr. pp. 11-12)  Dr. Hicklin opined the PFT results from UIHC were inconsistent with the PFT findings taken in his office.  Dr. Hicklin noted emphysema has the potential to result in a low diffusion capacity.  (Ex. L, Tr. pp. 15-16)  Based upon review of his records and test results, Dr. Hicklin opined claimant did not demonstrate evidence of worsening or progression of silicosis and no evidence of worsening of diffusion.  Dr. Hicklin opined claimant had not sustained a permanent impairment due to his silicosis.  He continued to recommend the same treatment and restrictions as he recommended in 2007.  (Ex. L, Tr. pp. 13, 16)  Dr. Hicklin opined claimant could continue to work in his inspector position.  (Ex. L, Tr. p. 10)

Dr. Hicklin further opined that in the event the UIHC testing results were adopted, to a degree of medical certainty, he would not attribute the low diffusion readings to claimant’s work-related silicosis.  He opined should the low diffusion level be related to silicosis, other results of the PFTs would reveal restriction.  To the contrary, Dr. Hicklin opined claimant’s PFT results revealed obstruction.  Dr. Hicklin opined such findings were properly related to smoking and COPD.  (Ex. L, Tr. pp. 21-22, 29-30)  

Claimant admitted he previously alleged a work-related lung condition tied to an August 15, 2007 date of injury.  Claimant testified the January 12, 2010 date of injury refers to the same condition as the August 15, 2007 date of injury and does not represent any new conditions.  (Claimant’s testimony)  At deposition on April 20, 2011, claimant testified: 

Q. It’s my understanding you have filed one petition against your employer Clow Valve alleging a January 12, 2010 injury date; is that correct?

A. Yes. 

Q. It’s my understanding your condition relates to an injury to your lungs; is this correct?

A. Yes. 

Q. Are there any other body parts involved in your current lawsuit regarding your January 12, 2010 injury date?

A. No. 

Q. It’s my understanding you had previously filed a petition regarding an injury to your lungs using an injury date of August 15, 2007; is that correct?

A. Yes. 

Q. Is this the same lung condition or is this a new lung condition?

A. Same.

(Ex. K, p. 99)

Claimant went on to testify:

Q. And I’m trying to find out why you picked December [sic] 12, 2010, if you know.  If you don’t know, you don’t have to answer. 

A. Need to talk to [claimant’s attorney] about that.

Q. But did anything new happen?

A. No. 

Q. This is the exact same problems you were having before?

A. Yes, yes, yes.

(Ex. K, p. 114)

Claimant testified he suffers with shortness of breath, worse with exercise.  Claimant testified his shortness of breath is improved if he “take[s] [his] time.”  He also reported difficulties with wheezing and coughing.  Claimant testified his shortness of breath has become progressively worse since 2007.  He also testified he wakes from sleep coughing more frequently.  Claimant described himself as otherwise in good health, although he believes he is more susceptible to colds and those colds are of longer duration.  Claimant continues to receive annual chest x-rays through defendant; however, claimant admitted he chose not to receive annual flu or pneumonia shots as recommended by his physicians.  (Claimant’s testimony)  Claimant does not receive active medical treatment for his lung condition.  (Ex. K, p. 116)  Claimant testified he quit smoking in January 2011 and is doing “pretty good.”  (Claimant’s testimony)  

Claimant continues to work for defendant in the position of casting inspector.  He is number four in seniority at the plant.  Claimant has continued to receive periodic pay raises and continues to receive overtime.  He has lost no earnings since 2007 and his only silicosis-related absences are due to medical appointments.  Claimant testified he has no reason to believe he would be fired or subjected to a decrease in pay.  He has made no requests for transfer since obtaining the inspector position in 2000 and identified no other positions at defendant into which he would like to transfer.  Similarly, claimant denied looking for work outside of defendant.  Claimant testified he is not exposed to silica dust in the grinding room.  He testified defendant made hoists available for use at work and he uses those tools to lift castings.  Claimant intends to work for defendant until retirement, ideally at approximately age 63.  (Claimant’s testimony; Ex. K, pp. 99-100, 103-104)  

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The first issue for determination is whether claimant sustained an injury arising out of and in the course of employment on January 12, 2010 or the alleged conditions are properly attributable to the previously adjudicated stipulated injury of August 15, 2007 (File No. 5026020).
The party who would suffer loss if an issue were not established has the burden of proving that issue by a preponderance of the evidence.  Iowa R. App. P. 6.14(6).

The claimant has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the alleged injury actually occurred and that it both arose out of and in the course of the employment.  Quaker Oats Co. v. Ciha, 552 N.W.2d 143 (Iowa 1996); Miedema v. Dial Corp., 551 N.W.2d 309 (Iowa 1996).  The words “arising out of” referred to the cause or source of the injury.  The words “in the course of” refer to the time, place, and circumstances of the injury.  2800 Corp. v. Fernandez, 528 N.W.2d 124 (Iowa 1995).  An injury arises out of the employment when a causal relationship exists between the injury and the employment.  Miedema, 551 N.W.2d 309.  The injury must be a rational consequence of a hazard connected with the employment and not merely incidental to the employment.  Koehler Electric v. Wills, 608 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2000); Miedema, 551 N.W.2d 309.  An injury occurs “in the course of” employment when it happens within a period of employment at a place where the employee reasonably may be when performing employment duties and while the employee is fulfilling those duties or doing an activity incidental to them.  Ciha, 552 N.W.2d 143.

The claimant has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the injury is a proximate cause of the disability on which the claim is based.  A cause is proximate if it is a substantial factor in bringing about the result; it need not be the only cause.  A preponderance of the evidence exists when the causal connection is probable rather than merely possible.  George A. Hormel & Co. v. Jordan, 569 N.W.2d 148 (Iowa 1997); Frye v. Smith-Doyle Contractors, 569 N.W.2d 154 (Iowa App. 1997); Sanchez v. Blue Bird Midwest, 554 N.W.2d 283 (Iowa App. 1996).

The question of causal connection is essentially within the domain of expert testimony.  The expert medical evidence must be considered with all other evidence introduced bearing on the causal connection between the injury and the disability.  Supportive lay testimony may be used to buttress the expert testimony and, therefore, is also relevant and material to the causation question.  The weight to be given to an expert opinion is determined by the finder of fact and may be affected by the accuracy of the facts the expert relied upon as well as other surrounding circumstances.  The expert opinion may be accepted or rejected, in whole or in part.  St. Luke’s Hosp. v. Gray, 604 N.W.2d 646 (Iowa 2000); IBP, Inc. v. Harpole, 621 N.W.2d 410 (Iowa 2001); Dunlavey v. Economy Fire and Cas. Co., 526 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 1995).  Miller v. Lauridsen Foods, Inc., 525 N.W.2d 417 (Iowa 1994).  Unrebutted expert medical testimony cannot be summarily rejected.  Poula v. Siouxland Wall & Ceiling, Inc., 516 N.W.2d 910 (Iowa App. 1994).

Iowa workers' compensation law distinguishes occupational diseases from work injuries.  An occupational disease is a disease which arises out of and in the course of the employee's employment.  The disease must have a direct causal connection with the employment and must follow as a natural incident from injurious exposure occasioned by the nature of the employment.  While the disease need not be foreseeable or expected, after its contraction, it must appear to have had its origin in a risk connected with the employment and to have resulted from that risk.  A disease which follows from a hazard to which an employee has or would have been equally exposed outside of the occupation is not a compensable occupational disease.

The claimant need meet only two basic requirements to prove causation of an occupational disease.  First, the disease must be causally related to the exposure to the harmful conditions in the field of employment.  Second, the harmful conditions must be more prevalent in the employment than in everyday life or other occupations.  Section 85A.8; McSpadden v. Big Ben Coal Co., 288 N.W.2d 181 (Iowa 1980).

Where an employee is injuriously exposed to hazardous conditions producing occupational disease while employed by several successive employers, the employer where the employee was last injuriously exposed is liable for the total disability.  Doerfer Div. of CCA v. Nicol, 359 N.W.2d 428 (Iowa 1984).

To be compensable, an aggravation of an occupational disease must be more than a temporary aggravation curable by removal from the exposure.  McNeil v. Grove Feed Mill, II Iowa Industrial Commissioner Report 261 (App. 1981).

Claimant filed a previous original notice and petition on February 26, 2008 (File No. 5026020).  This petition alleged claimant sustained an injury on August 15, 2007 due to occupational exposure to silica dust.  Following a chest x-ray in June 2007 which revealed results consistent with silicosis, claimant was referred for care with pulmonologist, Dr. Hicklin.  The initial evaluation with Dr. Hicklin took place at The Iowa Clinic on August 15, 2007.  At that time, Dr. Hicklin assessed pulmonary silicosis and likely mild COPD, related to claimant’s smoking.  Claimant’s DLCO measurement was 87 percent of predicted diffusion capacity.  Dr. Hicklin recommended pneumonia shots, annual flu shots, yearly chest x-rays and PFT, cessation of smoking, and avoidance of significant silica exposure.  Dr. Hicklin opined claimant’s work environment as a casting inspector was safe.  

Claimant continued to receive annual chest x-rays.  In August 2008, Dr. Hicklin recommended a repeat chest x-ray and chest CT scan to evaluate for progression of claimant’s lung condition.  In November 2008, Dr. Hicklin assessed silicosis; however, he opined claimant’s silicosis did not produce any impairment or symptoms.  He attributed claimant’s deficits in lung function to claimant’s COPD.  Dr. Hicklin continued to recommend avoidance of exposure to silica, annual PFT and chest x-rays, and biannual skin tests.  

The matter of File No. 5026020 proceeded to hearing on February 2, 2009.  The parties stipulated claimant had sustained an injury on August 15, 2007, arising out of and in the course of claimant’s employment with defendant, in the form of silicosis.  The primary issue for determination was whether the silicosis resulted in permanent disability.  The deputy concluded claimant had not sustained any permanent disability as a result of the silicosis and attributed any permanent lung condition to claimant’s COPD.  The deputy relied upon the unrebutted opinions of Dr. Hicklin and noted claimant failed to offer contrary evidence through the use of an independent medical examination.  

In May 2009, claimant underwent his annual chest x-ray.  Dr. Ketcham opined the results were consistent with silicosis.  Claimant did not receive additional medical care until January 6, 2010.  On that date, at the referral of his attorney, claimant presented to Dr. Fuortes.  Dr. Fuortes assessed silicosis and recommended avoidance of exposure to silica and annual PFT, skin tests, and chest x-rays.  Claimant’s PFT results of that date revealed a DLCO of 65 percent of predicted diffusion capacity.  On January 12, 2010, Dr. Fuortes authored a note opining based upon claimant’s DLCO measurement, claimant had sustained a significant permanent impairment.  

On April 6, 2010, Dr. Fuortes opined claimant’s decreased DLCO was consistent with a mixed physiological deficit related to obstructive physiology from smoking and restrictive physiologic effects of silicosis.  Due to claimant’s otherwise normal spirometry (PFT), Dr. Fuortes opined he was unable to apportion any of claimant’s permanent impairment to tobacco use.  Dr. Fuortes therefore opined, more likely than not, claimant’s permanent impairment of 21 percent whole person resulted from silicosis.  Dr. Fuortes recommended claimant avoid work in areas exposed to silica.  

Claimant’s annual chest x-ray of May 2010 revealed evidence of silicosis.  Also in May 2010, Dr. Hicklin was provided copies of the medical records of UIHC.  Dr. Hicklin opined based upon the testing results at UIHC, claimant had sustained a permanent impairment.  However, absent the opportunity to reexamine claimant, Dr. Hicklin opined he was unable to opine whether claimant’s impairment was due to silicosis, COPD, or progression of a heart condition.  

On July 30, 2010, claimant filed an original notice and petition alleging he sustained an injury on January 12, 2010 due to occupational exposure to silica dust.  The January 12, 2010 alleged date of injury corresponds to the date Dr. Fuortes opined claimant had sustained a significant permanent impairment.       

Claimant returned to Dr. Hicklin on January 10, 2011.  At that time, claimant’s DLCO measured at 85 percent of predicted diffusion capacity.  Dr. Hicklin opined claimant’s condition was unchanged since 2007.  Dr. Hicklin assessed COPD and very mild silicosis.  He opined claimant’s silicosis was stable and without evidence of progression, with no decline as compared to claimant’s initial examination in 2007.  Claimant testified Dr. Hicklin informed him claimant’s condition remained “about the same.”

On April 27, 2011, Dr. Fuortes authored a letter attributing claimant’s decreased lung function to histoplasmosis, mild emphysema, and work-related silicosis.  He recommended claimant avoid exposure to silica.  He further opined claimant’s PFT results from 2010 at UIHC showed a significant impairment not previously evident on claimant’s 2007 results from The Iowa Clinic/Iowa Lung Center. Dr. Fuortes quantified this impairment as 21 percent whole person.         

In June 2011, Dr. Hicklin opined he observed no progression in claimant’s silicosis between the appointments of August 2007 and January 2011.  Dr. Hicklin opined claimant’s DLCO measurements from 2007 and 2011 at The Iowa Clinic/Iowa Lung Center were normal and did not warrant a permanent impairment per the AMA Guides, 5th Edition.  Dr. Hicklin opined claimant had not sustained a permanent impairment as a result of the work-related silicosis, with the silicosis not producing pulmonary impairment or symptoms.  He further opined the 2010 PFT results from UIHC were inconsistent with findings from The Iowa Clinic/Iowa Lung Center.  Dr. Hicklin recommended no additional restrictions and opined claimant could continue to work the inspector position.

Also in June 2011, Dr. Ketcham reviewed claimant’s x-rays from June 2007 through May 2010 and opined the films showed no worsening or progression of silicosis.  

On June 7, 2011, Dr. Fuortes stated the entire basis of his opined 21 percent whole person impairment was claimant’s diminished diffusion, as evidenced in the January 2010 PFT results from UIHC and finding of DLCO at 65 percent of predicted.  Dr. Fuortes noted prior to June 2, 2011, he had not reviewed The Iowa Clinic/Iowa Lung Center PFT results from August 2007 and January 2011.  He acknowledged he had since done so and opined the PFTs yielded normal results.  Dr. Fuortes noted discrepancies between UIHC and The Iowa Clinic/Iowa Lung Center results and opined he required a repeat DLCO reading from UIHC prior to addressing impairment and potential worsening of condition.  Dr. Fuortes opined the restrictions he recommended were the same as he would have issued in 2007 upon review of claimant’s 2007 x-rays suggestive of silicosis.  He opined claimant remained capable of working his casting inspector job.  

Claimant underwent repeat PFT at UIHC on June 22, 2011.  Dr. Fuortes opined the results revealed a DLCO of 64 percent of predicted diffusion capacity.  At the time of his deposition on July 1, 2011, Dr. Fuortes opined the two sets of PFTs from UIHC were “virtually identical,” reproducible, and valid.  Dr. Fuortes testified he based his opinion of permanent impairment entirely upon claimant’s DLCO deficits.  Dr. Fuortes opined claimant presented with deficits in lung function caused by mild emphysema related to tobacco use, obstructive airway disease in the form of histoplasmosis, and work-related silicosis.  Dr. Fuortes related a substantial portion of claimant’s decreased DLCO to the work-related silicosis.  He stated histoplasmosis was unlikely to impact DLCO levels, but emphysema could impact DLCO.  Dr. Fuortes acknowledged the PFT results from The Iowa Clinic/Iowa Lung Center were consistent with one another and demonstrated normal DLCO levels, without signs of worsening or permanent impairment. 

At deposition, Dr. Hicklin testified he had the benefit of examining claimant in both 2007 and 2011.  At the time of the August 2007 evaluation, Dr. Hicklin opined claimant’s DLCO measurement was normal and diagnosed claimant with pulmonary silicosis.  Dr. Hicklin testified the silicosis was not “affecting” claimant and any impairment to claimant’s lungs was attributable to claimant’s mild COPD.  Dr. Hicklin testified following the January 2011 PFT, claimant’s DLCO levels were normal and relatively unchanged from prior evaluation.  Dr. Hicklin testified based upon The Iowa Clinic/Iowa Lung Center results, there was no evidence of a worsening or progression of claimant’s silicosis and no evidence of worsening of diffusion capacity.  Dr. Hicklin opined claimant had not sustained a permanent impairment and continued to recommend the same course of treatment and same restrictions as he offered in 2007.  

Dr. Hicklin testified the PFT results from UIHC were inconsistent with those he ordered at The Iowa Clinic/Iowa Lung Center.  Dr. Hicklin testified that even if the PFT results from UIHC were adopted, he would not attribute the low diffusion to claimant’s silicosis.  Dr. Hicklin explained if silicosis caused the deficit in diffusion, other PFT results would show restriction.  He testified the contrary was true, with other PFT results showing obstruction.  This obstruction is properly attributed to claimant’s smoking-related COPD, as emphysema has the potential to result in low diffusion capacity.          
At evidentiary hearing, claimant testified he did not have additional exposure to silica between 2007 and 2010; however, he believed his condition was worsening.  At deposition, claimant testified he sought evaluation with Dr. Fuortes as a “second opinion.”  Claimant denied any new symptoms or changes in his condition and stated he simply wanted “another opinion.”  Claimant’s testimony at both evidentiary hearing and deposition indicates he believes the alleged January 12, 2010 date of injury represents the “same” condition as that associated with the August 15, 2007 stipulated date of injury.  Claimant’s deposition testimony went even further, answering affirmatively when asked if the alleged January 12, 2010 date referred to the “exact same problems.”   

Claimant testified he has suffered with progressively worsening shortness of breath since 2007.  He also reported suffering with wheezing and coughing, waking from sleep more frequently than in 2007.  Claimant testified he believes himself more susceptible to colds and those colds remain of longer duration.  Although claimant continues to undergo annual chest x-rays, he refuses to receive the recommended flu and pneumonia shots.  Claimant receives no other active medical treatment for his lung conditions.  

A restatement of the central facts of this case is necessary at this juncture, as determination of whether claimant sustained an injury on January 12, 2010 is intertwined with the question of whether claimant’s condition remains relatively unchanged from the previously adjudicated August 15, 2007 date of injury.  Claimant argues his condition has materially and substantially worsened from the time of the original arbitration hearing on February 2, 2009.  Defendant argues claimant’s condition remains unchanged and claimant is attempting to relitigate issues previously determined.  If so, defendant argues the principles of res judicata apply, precluding claimant from receiving benefits.  

Upon review of the evidence, it is clear claimant seeks benefits as a result of a stipulated silicosis condition.  Claimant initially was assessed with this condition on August 15, 2007, the date alleged and previously adjudicated in File No. 5026020.  The presiding deputy commissioner adopted the opinions of Dr. Hicklin, namely that claimant had not sustained a permanent impairment as a result of the silicosis but rather, any impairment was properly attributable to claimant’s COPD.  It is important to note, as the presiding deputy did in the arbitration decision, claimant did not offer any medical evidence contradicting the opinions offered by Dr. Hicklin.  Also noted by the presiding deputy, claimant failed to offer evidence in the form of an independent medical evaluation as allowed by Iowa Code section 85.39.  

Defendant asserts claimant’s evaluation with Dr. Fuortes in January 2011 amounts to little more than an independent medical evaluation, undergone not due to some change in symptoms, but rather simply to evaluate claimant’s permanent disability.  Defendant argues claimant attempts to use the results of this evaluation to obtain a second bite at the apple, as claimant should have properly obtained such an evaluation prior to the original arbitration hearing in File No. 5026020.  Defendant asserts what has been offered by claimant does not amount to a new and distinct injury warranting imposition of a new date of injury.  Rather, defendant argues claimant’s condition has remained relatively stable and has already been adjudicated by final agency action. 

Claimant asserts he has sustained a worsening of his condition since the date of the original arbitration hearing in File No. 5026020.  Claimant argues he sought evaluation with Dr. Fuortes due to fear of progression of his symptoms and claimant’s fears were justified by the decreased DLCO measured at UIHC in January 2010 and June 2011.  Claimant asserts this worsening of his condition is significant enough to warrant imposition of a new date of injury, corresponding with the date claimant learned of Dr. Fuortes’ opinion of a significant loss of lung function.  

Dr. Ketcham opined claimant’s x-rays taken over the interim from 2007 through 2010 show no deterioration or progression of claimant’s silicosis.  With the exception of claimant’s testimony of subjective complaints of a perceived worsening condition, the sole measurement which supports a finding of permanent impairment is found in claimant’s PFT results, specifically the DLCO findings.  In August 2007, PFT results from The Iowa Clinic/Iowa Lung Center showed DLCO levels of 87 percent of predicted diffusion capacity.  Dr. Hicklin opined such a finding supported zero permanent impairment.  In January 2010, PFT results from UIHC revealed DLCO levels of 65 percent of predicted diffusion capacity.  Based upon the substantial reduction in DLCO results from 2007 to 2010, Dr. Fuortes opined claimant had sustained a significant permanent impairment.  

Such a reduction, on its face, seems to support a determination of a substantial worsening of claimant’s lung function.  However, claimant thereafter underwent repeat PFT at The Iowa Clinic/Iowa Lung Center in January 2011.  DLCO levels were measured at 85 percent of predicted.  Dr. Hicklin opined this result remained normal and unchanged from 2007 levels.  Dr. Fuortes acknowledged PFT results from The Iowa Clinic/Iowa Lung Center were consistent, normal, and did not support a finding of permanent impairment.  To evaluate the discrepancy between the PFT results received from UIHC and The Iowa Clinic/Iowa Lung Center, Dr. Fuortes recommended repeat PFT at UIHC.  Once completed, the DLCO level was measured at 64 percent of predicted.  This finding was consistent with prior UIHC testing and continued to support a finding of permanent impairment.  

If one were to accept the findings of The Iowa Clinic/Iowa Lung Center, claimant has not proven a worsening of his condition warranting a new injury date.  If one were to accept the results of UIHC, claimant could potentially establish a significant change in condition.  However, the results of these tests provide little probative assistance to the undersigned in evaluation of a potential worsening of claimant’s condition, as the results are inconsistent between facilities but consistent within the facilities.  Both Dr. Fuortes and Dr. Hicklin were unable to explain this phenomenon.  Therefore, the undersigned is unable to adopt the findings of one facility over the other due to potential discrepancies or administration errors.  The discrepancy exists without explanation.  As the discrepancy exists and neither facility’s results have been discredited, it cannot be determined that claimant has met his burden of proving he sustained an injury on January 12, 2010 based simply upon this objective finding. 

Even in the event one were to accept the PFT results from UIHC demonstrating a loss of lung function, a loss of lung function is not automatically attributable to progression of claimant’s silicosis.  Both Dr. Hicklin and Dr. Fuortes have identified additional factors which have the potential to impact claimant’s lung function, including heart problems, histoplasmosis, and mild COPD/emphysema.  Both physicians agreed COPD has the potential to impact an individual’s DLCO.  Dr. Hicklin testified, however, the remainder of claimant’s PFT results revealed obstruction attributable to COPD rather than restriction attributable to silicosis.  Dr. Hicklin’s explanation of these results was clear and not expressly contradicted by Dr. Fuortes.  Dr. Fuortes previously acknowledged the presence of obstructive findings, diagnosed COPD, and admitted the potential for COPD to impact DLCO results.  Dr. Hicklin’s unrebutted opinion also comes as an expert in the field of pulmonology and as the only physician to examine claimant before and after the original arbitration hearing in File No. 5026020.  The opinions of Dr. Hicklin are therefore, entitled to greater weight.  It is determined claimant has failed to meet his burden of proving an injury on January 12, 2010 based upon the PFT results.  

It remains possible for claimant to establish a significant worsening of his condition from the date of the original arbitration hearing.  Based upon review of the evidence in the record, it is determined claimant has failed to establish by a preponderance of the evidence he sustained a worsening of his condition such that would warrant assignment of a new injury date of January 12, 2010.  Claimant remains employed in the position of casting inspector, a position which both Drs. Hicklin and Fuortes have opined contains safe levels of exposure to silica.  Dr. Fuortes has recommended permanent restrictions; however, these restrictions are those also recommended by Dr. Hicklin dating back to 2007.  Furthermore, Dr. Fuortes opined his diagnosis and recommended restrictions were the same in 2010 as he would have made in 2007, had he had been given the opportunity to examine claimant in 2007.

Claimant offered credible testimony on a perceived worsening of his condition; however, it cannot be said that his description of symptoms is so severe as to warrant imposition of a new date of injury.  Furthermore, it is worthy of note that claimant has refused to receive flu and pneumonia shots as recommended by his physicians.  Although this refusal is well within claimant’s rights, the refusal may result in claimant developing symptoms which could have otherwise been prevented.  

Claimant’s diagnosis remains the same from 2007 to the present, as do his restrictions.  Claimant expressed subjective complaints of worsening of symptoms; however, these complaints are relatively mild.  Claimant’s objective measure of decrease in lung capacity, DLCO results, offer little probative value as Drs. Fuortes and Hicklin were unable to explain the discrepancy in results and the undersigned was presented with no potential basis to discount either set of tests.  Furthermore, in the event the set of PFTs most favorable to claimant were accepted, the undersigned found the opinions of Dr. Hicklin, attributing the loss of lung function to COPD, more credible.  It is determined claimant has failed to meet his burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence a worsening of his condition from the date of the original arbitration decision which is severe enough to warrant the determination of a new and distinct injury date of January 12, 2010.  As claimant has failed to meet his burden of establishing a worsening or progression of his condition, consideration of further issues presented is unnecessary, as moot.   
ORDER


THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED: 

Claimant shall take nothing from these proceedings. 

Costs are taxed to claimant pursuant to 876 IAC 4.33.  
Signed and filed this ___7th ____ day of September, 2012.
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19 IF  = 20 “Right to Appeal:  This decision shall become final unless you or another interested party appeals within 20 days from the date above, pursuant to rule 876-4.27 (17A, 86) of the Iowa Administrative Code.  The notice of appeal must be in writing and received by the commissioner’s office within 20 days from the date of the decision.  The appeal period will be extended to the next business day if the last day to appeal falls on a weekend or a legal holiday.  The notice of appeal must be filed at the following address:  Workers’ Compensation Commissioner, Iowa Division of Workers’ Compensation, 1000 E. Grand Avenue, Des Moines, Iowa  50319-0209.” 


